IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DAWN SMITH SHANNON CLIFTON

APPELLANT

VS.

DOCKET NO. 2011-CA-00037

THOMAS R. SHANON

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Chancery Court of DeSoto County Cause No. 99-02-0275

MITZI C. JOHNSON, ESQUIRE Mississippi Bar No 185 North Main Street, Suite 102 Collierville, Tennessee 38017 Phone: 901-853-2780 Fax: 901-853-2790

Attorney of Record for Appellant

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DAWN SMITH SHANNON CLIFTON

APPELLANT

VS.

DOCKET NO. 2011-CA-00037

THOMAS R. SHANON

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether or not the trial court had jurisdiction to hear this matter.
- 2. Whether or not the trial court committed error by transferring temporary and permanent custody of the minor child from Mother/Appellant to Father/Appellee without a finding of a material change of circumstance adversely affecting the welfare of the minor child.
- 3. Whether or not the trial court committed error by transferring temporary and permanent custody of the minor child from Mother/Appellant to Father/Appellee based solely upon the desire of the minor child, which is only a factor to be considered after a finding of a material change of circumstance is made.
- 4. Whether or not the Father/Appellee proved by a preponderance of the evidence that there was a material change of circumstance adversely affecting the welfare of the minor child upon which the Court could base a temporary and/or permanent change of custody of the minor child.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Dawn Smith Shannon Clifton, (hereinafter referred to as "Mother"), and the Appellee, Thomas R. Shannon, (hereinafter referred to as "Father") were divorced on July 26, 1999. (R. 2) One child was born of the union, namely Ashley Nicole Shannon, date of birth May 16, 1996. (R. 15)

On June 9, 2010, Father filed a Petition for Contempt and Modification, Etc. in which the minor child joined alleging a substantial and material change of circumstance. (R. 6-13) Mother was served with the Petition, and through counsel filed a Notice of Special Appearance to object to jurisdiction. (R. 42)

At the initial hearing, Mother by and through counsel objected to jurisdiction and argued that not only did Mississippi not have jurisdiction but counsel also argued that Mississippi was an inconvenient forum in accordance with the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act as codified at Miss. Code Ann. 93-27-101 et seq. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 25-30) The Court ruled that it had exclusive continuing jurisdiction and proceeded with a hearing regarding the temporary custody of the parties' minor child. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 30-34) The Court awarded temporary custody to Father by Order dated August 10, 2010. (R. 48-50). The matter was continued to December 13, 2010, for a final hearing. (R. 48-50)

At the final hearing there was no additional proof as to any change of circumstance and the Court ruled that permanent custody would be transferred to Father and entered the Order dated January 14, 2011. (R. 54-58)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mother and Father were divorced on July 26, 1999. (R. 14-33) There is one minor child born of their marriage, namely Ashley Nicole Shannon, date of birth May 16, 1996. (R. 15) On June 9, 2010, Father filed a Petition for Contempt and Modification, Etc. in which the minor child joined alleging a substantial and material change of circumstance. (R. 6-13) Mother was served with the Petition and through counsel filed a Notice of Special Appearance to object to jurisdiction. (R. 42)

A hearing on the "emergency" temporary issues was had on July 26, 2010. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 1-73) At such hearing, Mother again, by and through counsel objected to jurisdiction and argued that Mississippi was an inconvenient forum in accordance with the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act as codified at Miss. Code Ann. 93-27-101 et seq. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 25-30) After arguments of counsel for the parties, the Court ruled that it had exclusive continuing jurisdiction and proceeded with a thirty (30) minute hearing regarding the temporary custody of the parties' minor child. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 30-34)

The Court awarded temporary custody to Father by Order dated August 10, 2010. (R. 48-50) The matter was continued to December 13, 2010, for a final hearing. (R. 49) At the final hearing only the minor child testified, and apparently no record was made of the testimony. It is clear, however, from the Order that there was no additional proof as to any change of circumstance as required by law, however, the Trial Court ruled that permanent custody would be transferred to Father and entered the Order dated January 14, 2011. (R. 54-58)

It is from the final Order entered on January 14, 2011, that Mother has appealed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

According to Mississippi law, for a modification of custody, the parent seeking the modification must prove (1) that a substantial change in circumstances has transpired since issuance of the custody decree; (2) that this change adversely affects the child's welfare; and (3) that the child's best interests mandate a change of custody. Without a change of circumstance in the home of the custodial parent adverse to the minor child, such a modification should be denied. A child's preference is not a change of circumstance but only a factor to be considered under <u>Albright</u> once a material change of circumstance has been found to exist.

Further, since the material change of circumstance must exist in the custodial parent's home, it stands to reason that the proof, should any exist, would be in the home state of the custodial parent making the original state, in this case Mississippi, an inconvenient forum. Since Mother and the minor child lived in Colorado for the four years preceding the filing of Father's petition, it stands to reason that the proof of a material change , if any exists, would be in Colorado where Mother and the minor child resided. As such, Mississippi is an inconvenient forum and Colorado is the home state of the child. As the home state of the child, Colorado has jurisdiction under the Uniform Child Custody and Jurisdictional Enforcement Act.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

1. Whether or not the trial court had jurisdiction to hear this matter.

Whether or not Mississippi has continuing exclusive jurisdiction under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act as codified at Miss. Code Ann. §93-27- et. seq. is the first issue to be resolved. If Mississippi did not have jurisdiction to hear the matter, then the Order entered by the Trial Court is void and the Petition should be dismissed.

The Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act, (hereinafter "UCCJEA"), codified at Miss. Code Ann. §93-27-101 et seq. is applicable to this case. The parties were divorced in the DeSoto County Chancery Court by Final Decree of Divorce entered on July 26, 1999. (R. 14-33) Thereafter, on or about December 30, 2005, the Appellant, Dawn Smith Shannon Clifton, (hereinafter referred to as "Mother"), and the parties' minor child relocated to Colorado where they have resided for the past four and a half (4 $\frac{1}{2}$) years. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 26; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 47)

On or about June 9, 2010, the Appellee, Thomas R. Shannon, (hereinafter referred to as "Father"), filed a Petition for Contempt and Modification, Etc. in which the minor child joined. (R. 6-13) Mother was served with the Petition, and through counsel filed a Notice of Special Appearance to object to jurisdiction. (R. 42) A hearing on the "emergency" temporary issues was had on July 26, 2010. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 1-73) At such hearing, Mother again, by and through counsel objected to jurisdiction and argued that Mississippi was an inconvenient forum in accordance with the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act as codified at Miss. Code Ann. 93-27-101 et seq. (Tr. Vol. pp. 25-27 and 28-30) After arguments of counsel for the parties, the Court ruled

that it had exclusive continuing jurisdiction and proceeded with a thirty (30) minute hearing regarding the temporary custody of the parties' minor child. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 30-34)

It is undisputed that Mother and the parties' minor child have lived in Colorado for the past four and a half (4 ½) years. Pursuant to *Miss. Code Ann.* §93-27-202, Mississippi no longer has exclusive continuing jurisdiction. *Miss. Code Ann.* §93-27-202 states as follows:

(1) Except as otherwise provided in Section 93-27-204, a court of this state which has made a child custody determination consistent with Section 93-27-201 or 93-27-203 has exclusive, continuing jurisdiction over the determination **until**:

(a) A court of this state determines that neither the child, <u>nor the child</u> <u>and one parent</u>, nor the child and a person acting as a parent <u>have a</u> <u>significant connection with this state and that substantial</u> <u>evidence is no longer available in this state concerning the child's</u> <u>care, protection, training, and personal relationships;</u> or

(b) A court of this state or a court of another state determines that the child, the child's parents, and any person acting as a parent currently do not reside in this state.

(2) A court of this state which has made a child custody determination and does not have exclusive, continuing jurisdiction under this section may modify that determination only if it has jurisdiction to make an initial determination under Section 93-27-201.

In the case at bar, the child and Mother no longer reside in Mississippi and have not since December 2005. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 47) The only connection to the state of Mississippi is that Father resides here and the child enjoys visitation here. The initial issue in a modification case is whether or not there has been a material change of circumstance in the custodial home. <u>Riley v. Doerner, 677 So. 2d 740, 743 (Miss. 1996)</u>; see also <u>Mabus v. Mabus, 847 So. 2d 815 (Miss. 2003)</u>. Since a modification is based on circumstances in the custodial home, logic dictates, therefore, that the

majority of information and proof of any circumstances in the custodial home would naturally be where the custodial home is located, which in the case at bar is Colorado. Further, the overwhelming substantial evidence with regard to the child's care, protection, training and personal relationships would also be in Colorado where the child has resided since December 2005. The child's step-father, teachers, friends, medical providers and others with information regarding the child's care, protection, training, and personal relationships reside in Colorado and any information of an alleged change of circumstance in the custodial home would likewise be in Colorado. The child's educational and medical records are in Colorado. Thus, the overwhelming abundance of substantial evidence and witnesses with regard to the child's care, protection, training, personal relationships and circumstances in the custodial home is in Colorado. Mississippi is an inconvenient forum as there is no evidence in Mississippi which would relate to any alleged change of circumstance in the custodial home. Mississippi no longer has jurisdiction under the UCCJEA, Mississippi is an inconvenient forum, and the Petition should have been dismissed.

In the case of <u>Yeager v. Kittrell, 35 So. 3rd 1221, (2009)</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court gave an explanation of the history and applicability of the UCCJEA as follows:

Jurisdiction over interstate custody disputes is governed by the UCCJEA and the PKPA. <u>Deborah H. Bell, Bell on Mississippi Family</u> <u>Law § 18:09 at 454 (2005)</u>. The UCCJEA regulates the ability of chancery courts to enforce or modify child custody judgments entered in another state. <u>Shadden v. Shadden, 11 So.3d 761, 763(¶ 8)</u> (<u>Miss.Ct.App.2009).</u>

The predecessor of the UCCJEA, the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act (UCCJA), was created to establish uniformity in state decisions and to limit forum shopping by custody litigants seeking to enforce or modify custody. <u>Bell on Mississippi Family Law § 18:09</u>.

Some states were slow to adopt the UCCJA, which led Congress to pass the PKPA in 1980. <u>Id.</u> The PKPA contains requirements almost identical to the UCCJA. <u>Id.</u> Although the two Acts were created to ensure consistent results in interstate custody decisions, the differences between the Acts led to confusion. <u>Id.</u> The UCCJEA, promulgated in 2001 and subsequently adopted in Mississippi in 2004, was intended to bring the UCCJA into compliance with the PKPA. <u>Id.</u>

Under the UCCJEA, only one court may assert jurisdiction after an initial custody order has been entered. See *Miss. Code Ann.* § 93-27-201 (*Supp.2009*). A court issuing an initial determination has continuing jurisdiction over the parties; no other court may modify the decree. Id. However, even if only one party remains in the state, a second state may modify the order if the issuing court finds that neither the child, nor the child and one parent, have a significant connection with the state, and that substantial evidence is no longer available in the issuing state. See *Miss. Code Ann.* § 93-27-202(1)(a). Only the issuing state may make this determination. Additionally, a court with continuing jurisdiction may decline to modify custody if another court is a more appropriate forum. See *Miss. Code Ann.* § 93-27-203(a) (*Supp.2009*); 93-27-207.

The PKPA mandates that a state must give full faith and credit to "any custody determination or visitation determination made consistently with the provisions of this section by a court of another [s]tate." The PKPA also directs that:

A court of a [s]tate may modify a determination of the custody of the same child made by a court of another [s]tate, if -

(1) it has jurisdiction to make such a child custody determination; and

(2) the court of the other [s]tate no longer has jurisdiction, or it has declined to exercise such jurisdiction to modify such determination. *28 U.S.C.* § *1738A(f)* (*2006*).

In the present case, Mississippi had jurisdiction to make the initial child custody determination under section 93-27-201(1)(a) since, at the time of the initial determination, Mississippi was "the home state of the children on the date of the commencement of the proceeding."

However, section 93-27-207 provides that:

(1) A court of this state which has jurisdiction under this chapter to make a child custody determination may decline to exercise its jurisdiction at any time if it determines that it is an inconvenient forum under the circumstances and that a court of another state is a more appropriate forum. The issue of inconvenient forum may be raised upon motion of a party, the court's own motion, or request of another court.

(2) Before determining whether it is an inconvenient forum, a court of this state shall consider whether it is appropriate for a court of another state to exercise jurisdiction. For this purpose, the court shall allow the parties to submit information and shall consider all relevant factors, including:

(a) Whether domestic violence has occurred and is likely to continue in the future and which state could best protect the parties and the child;

(b) The length of time the child has resided outside this state;

(c) The distance between the court in this state and the court in the state that would assume jurisdiction;

(d) The relative financial circumstances of the parties;

(e) Any agreement of the parties as to which state should assume jurisdiction;

(f) The nature and location of the evidence required to resolve the pending litigation, including testimony of the child;

(g) The ability of the court of each state to decide the issue expeditiously and the procedures necessary to present the evidence; and

(h) The familiarity of the court of each state with the facts and issues in the pending litigation.

In the case at bar, there was no consideration given with regard to the above factors. In

a matter where the basis of a modification is required to be based on a change in the

circumstances of the custodial home which is adverse to the minor child, the proof (should any exist) would lie in the state in which the custodial home and the custodial parent is located, which in this case is Colorado. There was no proof in the record as to any change in the custodial home since the entry of the last custody order. Regardless, the Trial Court should have dismissed the Petition for lack of jurisdiction and/or for being an inconvenient forum.

2. Whether or not the trial court committed error by transferring temporary and permanent custody of the minor child from Mother/Appellant to Father/Appellee without a finding of a material change of circumstance adversely affecting the welfare of the minor child.

In the case at bar, Father filed a Petition for Contempt and Modification, Etc. on or about June 9, 2010, alleging that there has been a material and substantial change in circumstances since the rendition of the decree of divorce that adversely affects the welfare of the parties' minor child. (R. 9) A preliminary hearing was had on July 26, 2010, at which Father, Mother and the minor child testified. Father's proof consisted of his home life, his family in Mississippi, etc. There was no proof that there was any substantial change of circumstance in Mother's home that was adverse to the minor child as required in *Riley v. Doerner, 677 So. 2d 740, 743 (Miss. 1996); see also <u>Mabus v. Mabus, 847 So. 2d 815 (Miss. 2003)</u>. (Tr. 37-43) On cross examination, Father admitted that there was no other basis for the filing of his Petition other than his daughter request to reside with him. (Tr. 43-44) Such a request in and of itself is not a material change of circumstance adversely affecting the welfare of the minor child as required by law. (See <u>Brown v. Brown, 764 So. 2d 502</u> (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) Father also admitted on cross examination that Mother had been a good*

mother. (Tr. 44) There is nothing in Father's testimony or any other proof presented that establishes a material change of circumstance adversely affecting the minor child. The Trial Court, therefore, committed error in temporarily and then permanently granting custody to Father solely based upon the child's preference. No other factors or considerations besides the child's preference were made by the Court in making its decision to change custody from a Mother who had been the primary caregiver for the minor child since 1999 to Father.

The Supreme Court of Mississippi in Mabus v. Mabus, 847 So. 2d 815, (Miss.

2003), states as follows:

In a case disputing child custody, the chancellor's findings will not be reversed unless manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or the proper legal standard was not applied. <u>Hensarling v. Hensarling, 824 So. 2d 583, 587 (Miss. 2002)</u>. See also <u>Wright v. Stanley, 700 So. 2d 274, 280 (Miss. 1997); Williams v. Williams, 656 So. 2d 325, 330 (Miss. 1995)</u>. The burden of proof is on the movant to show by a preponderance of the evidence that a material change in circumstances has occurred in the custodial home. <u>Riley v. Doerner, 677 So. 2d 740, 743 (Miss. 1996)</u>.

In the ordinary modification proceeding, the non-custodial party must prove: (1) that a substantial change in circumstances has transpired since issuance of the custody decree; (2) that this change adversely affects the child's welfare; and (3) that the child's best interests mandate a change of custody. <u>Bubac v. Boston, 600 So. 2d 951, 955</u> (Miss. 1992).

In considering whether there has been such a change in circumstances, the totality of the circumstances should be considered. [Spain v. Holland, 483 So. 2d 318, 320 (Miss. 1986).] Even though under the totality of the circumstances a change has occurred, the court must separately and affirmatively determine that this change is one which adversely affects the children. Id. Bredemeier v. Jackson, 689 So. 2d 770, 775 (Miss. 1997). Furthermore, it is well settled that the polestar consideration in any child custody matter is the best interest and welfare of the child. Albright v. Albright, 437 So. 2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983).

In <u>Mabus</u>, Mother filed to modify custody, Father countered to modify custody. The Court making its determination, Mother appealed. The Court found no material change in circumstances after Mother attempted to present evidence of seventeen different areas which would, taken together, amount to a material change in circumstances. Mother argued that the Court should have applied the <u>Albright</u> factors, however, the Supreme Court determined that since there was no material change of circumstance found, that there was no need to conduct an <u>Albright</u> analysis. The Supreme Court further stated:

As the Court of Appeals has correctly held, in a modification hearing, the chancellor will only apply the <u>Albright</u> factors after the non-custodial parent has proven a material change in circumstances. <u>McGehee v.</u> <u>Upchurch, 733 So. 2d 364, 369 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)</u>.

We do not reach Mr. McCracking's various complaints with the criteria for determining custody set out in <u>Albright v. Albright, 437 So. 2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983)</u>. In a custody modification proceeding, the question of which parent will better serve the welfare of the children as custodial parent is not reached unless the chancellor has previously found a material change in circumstance detrimental to the child's best interest. <u>McGehee v. Upchurch, 733 So. 2d 364, 369 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)</u>. Once such a change of circumstance has been found, the factors in <u>Albright v. Albright</u> ought to play a significant role in the chancellor's ultimate determination of a suitable custody arrangement. However, by failing to prove a change in circumstance detrimental to the children's best interests, Mr. McCracking's case fell short of the point where such issues could be considered by the chancellor. <u>McCracking v.</u> <u>McCracking, 776 So. 2d 691, 694 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)</u>.

It is clear from the record that the Trial Court's ruling was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, and the proper legal standard was not applied. There was no finding (1) that a substantial change in circumstances has transpired since issuance of the custody decree; (2) that this change adversely affects the child's welfare; and (3) that

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