IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DAWN SMITH SHANNON CLIFTON,

APPELLANT

v.

DOCKET NO. 2011-CA-00037

THOMAS R. SHANNON,

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI Cause No. 99-02-0275

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

MSB Attorney at Law 118 Dupuy St. Water Valley, MS 38965 and John T. Lamar, Jr. MSB OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE LAMAR & HANNAFORD, P.A. Attorneys at Law 214 S. Ward St. Senatobia, MS 38668 1-662-562-6537

AUSTIN G. GRAY

ł

i.

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DAWN SMITH SHANNON CLIFTON,

APPELLANT

v.

DOCKET NO. 2011-CA-00037

THOMAS R. SHANNON,

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly retained jurisdiction pursuant to the Uniform Child Jurisdiction Enforcement Act (UCCJEA). In Mississippi, the UCCJEA provides that a court which has made a custody determination has continuing, exclusive jurisdiction over the determination either until (1) both parties and the child move from the state or (2) a court finds that either the child, or the child and one parent, no longer have a significant connection to Mississippi and substantial evidence regarding the child's care, protection, training, and personal relationships is no longer available in the state.

Additionally, the trial court properly found a material change of circumstance which adversely affected the welfare of the minor child and modified custody, based on the child's best interests. The record indicates that upon finding a material change in circumstance the chancellor properly considered the child's preference, among other factors, in evaluating the child's best interests, as required by Mississippi law. Appellee submits that the trial court's order should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In custody modification proceedings, a chancellor's findings of fact will not be disturbed or set aside on appeal unless they are manifestly wrong or not supported by substantial credible evidence. <u>McDonald v. McDonald</u>, 39 So.3d 868, 880 (Miss. 2010) citing <u>Bredemeier v. Jackson</u>, 689 So.2d 770, 775 (Miss. 1997). Such findings of fact are afforded great deference. <u>Brooks v.</u> <u>Brooks</u>, 652 So.2d 1113, 1117 (Miss. 1995). However, where the law has been erroneously applied or interpreted, the standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. <u>Id.</u> Whether the chancery court had jurisdiction to hear a particular matter is a question of law which the Court reviews *de novo*. <u>In re Guardianship of Z.J.</u>, 804 So.2d 1009, 1011 (Miss. 2002).

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RETAINED CONTINUING, EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION TO HEAR THIS MATTER.

Under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Enforcement Act (UCCJEA), the court issuing an initial custody decree has continuing, exclusive jurisdiction to modify the order. The court loses its jurisdiction when both parties and the child have moved from the state. Deborah H. Bell, <u>Bell on Family Law</u> §18.07 at 448 (2005). Pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated §93-27-202, a

Mississippi court which has made a child custody determination has exclusive, continuing jurisdiction over said determination until:

(a) A court of this state determines that neither the child, nor the child and one parent, nor the child and a person acting as a parent have a significant connection with this state and that substantial evidence is no longer available in this state concerning the child's care, protection, training, and personal relationships.

The Mother contends that the child's "only connection" to the state of Mississippi is her father who is a Mississippi resident, and therefore, the child has no "significant connection" to the state. In 2010, the Court addressed a similar contention and concluded that because the non-custodial parent had remained in Mississippi since the initial custody determination, the child had a "significant connection" to the state, sufficient to satisfy §93-27-202. White v. White, 26 So.3d 342, 347-348 (Miss. 2010). The Court held that it was within the chancellor's discretion to make such a determination, and the trial court had continuing, exclusive jurisdiction to modify the original custody decree. <u>Id</u>.

In this case, the chancellor determined that the child continued to have a significant connection to the state of Mississippi, having lived here for over nine years and after having moved to Colorado on December 31, 2005. (Tr. 49) The chancellor pointed out that the child's father resided in Mississippi, the child had extended family in Mississippi, the child enjoyed

5

ć

extended visitation in Mississippi, the child participated in activities in Mississippi, and the child attended church in Mississippi. (Tr. 32-33)

It was within the chancellor's discretion to determine that the child maintained significant connections to the state of Mississippi. Therefore, the chancery court properly retained continuing, exclusive jurisdiction over this matter.

As for Mother's forum non conveniens argument, Mississippi Code Annotated §93-27-207 provides that:

(1) A court of this state which has jurisdiction under this chapter to make a child custody determination **may** decline to exercise its jurisdiction at any time if it determines that it is an inconvenient forum under the circumstances and that a court of another state is a more appropriate forum. The issue of inconvenient forum may be raised upon motion of a party, the court's own motion, or request of another court.

(2) Before determining whether it is an inconvenient forum, a court of this state shall consider whether it is appropriate for a court of another state to exercise jurisdiction. For this purpose, the court shall allow the parties to submit information and shall consider all relevant factors, including:

(a) Whether domestic violence has occurred and is likely to continue in the future and which state could best protect the parties and the child;

(b) The length of time the child has resided outside this state;

(c) The distance between the court in this state and the court in the state that would assume jurisdiction;

(d) The relative financial circumstances of the parties;

(e) Any agreement of the parties as to which state should assume jurisdiction;

(f) The nature and location of the evidence required to resolve the pending litigation, including testimony of the child;

(g) The ability of the court of each state to decide the issue expeditiously and the procedures necessary to present the evidence; and

(h) The familiarity of the court of each state with the facts and issues in the pending litigation.

(Miss. Code Ann. §93-27-207) (emphasis added)

Mother contends that the chancellor abused her discretion by failing to conduct an analysis of the above factors. However, this argument ignores the plain language of §97-27-207. The statute does not mandate such a review. Instead, the statute is worded so as to give the court discretionary power to decline jurisdiction if it determines that it is an inconvenient forum. Again, the statute is clear in that the issue may be raised by motion of a party, the court's own motion, or the request of another court. In this case, Mother did not raise the issue of forum non coveniens at the custody modification hearing and failed to offer any evidence on This Court should not consider a matter raised for the the issue. first time on appeal. Further, there is no evidence in the record that another court requested the chancellor to review the issue of whether or not the forum was convenient, and in fact, the only record evidence concerning another court was that a Colorado court

had declined to assume jurisdiction over a matter related to the case. (Tr. 33)

Moreover, the Mother's suggestion that the chancellor did not consider the factors set forth in Mississippi Code Annotated §93-27-207 is inaccurate. While the chancellor did not explicitly cover each of the factors listed above, her findings were sufficient to show that the factors were considered. The record reflects that the chancellor considered the minor child's testimony about her step-father's threats to her mother and her feeling "nervous" around her step-father. (Tr. 64) The record also indicates that the chancellor considered the length of time, approximately four years, the child had been in Colorado. (Tr. 6, 32) Further, the chancellor addressed Mother's argument regarding the location of evidence in Colorado and found it unpersuasive. (Tr. 32)Lastly, the record contains evidence showing the chancellor's familiarity with the parties and the facts of the case. (Tr. 32) Nothing in the record suggests that the chancellor abused her discretion on the issue of whether Mississippi was an inconvenient forum.

- III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND A MATERIAL CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCE WHICH ADVERSELY AFFECTED THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD.
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED THE PREFERENCE OF THE MINOR CHILD AMONG OTHER FACTORS IN ASSESSING THE CHILD'S BEST INTERESTS.

MATERIAL v. THE APPELLEE ESTABLISHED Α CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCE WHICH ADVERSELY AFFECTED THE WELFARE OF THE MINOR CHILD BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE.

"To succeed in an attempt to modify child custody, the noncustodial parent must show: (1) a material change in circumstances has occurred since the issuance of the judgment or decree sought to be modified, (2) the change adversely affects the welfare of the child, and (3) the proposed change in custody would be in the best interest of the child." Ellis v. Ellis, 952 So.2d 982, 989 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). In considering whether a material change in circumstances has occurred, the trial court must consider the totality of the circumstances. In re E.C.P., 918 So.2d 809, 823 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). In the case sub judice, the record indicates that, based on the totality of the circumstances, a material change in circumstances occurred which adversely affected the welfare of the minor child, and it was in the child's best interest to modify custody.

Although the Chancellor did not use the magic words to expressly find a material change of circumstances, it is clear from her orders that she did find such change to exist. The record is replete with evidence showing a material change in circumstance which adversely affected the minor child. In chambers, the child confided to the chancellor that her step-father made her feel "nervous." (Tr. 7) She further told the chancellor that she was

9

MARCHINE REPORTS CONT

scared for her mom because, "he (the step-father) has threatened her before," and it "really freaked me out." (Tr. 7) Even if the step-father's threatening the child's mother was an isolated incident as Mother contends, the chancellor determined that the argument left a lasting impression on the child. Based on the child's testimony, the chancellor specifically found that the child felt "uncomfortable" around her step-father. (Tr. 63) As the chancellor explained:

I know, Mom, that you testified that she and her stepfather were very close and spend a lot of time together. That is not what I got from her. She said she's very nervous around her stepfather. She is uncomfortable around him, and she is fearful at times for you. She—she said that, obviously, there's something that happened pretty soon after y'all moved to Colorado that caused her a lot of concern, some fight that you and your husband had, and that bothers her. She feels uncomfortable. She feels—she doesn't feel very close to him.

(Tr. 63)

Mother's assertion that the effect of the step-father's threatening behavior on the child is diminished by the father's failure to file for custody at the time the threats were made is undermined by the absence of record evidence indicating that the father actually knew about the threats. The record does, however, contain sufficient evidence of a material change in circumstances, based on a totality of the circumstances. The child also clearly expressed her desire to live with her father in Mississippi. (Tr. 7) Expounding on the reasons she wanted to live with her father, the child cited her desire to be closer to extended family on both her father and mother's sides. (Tr. 24-25) The child also described her father's stable home environment and the various activities she participated in with her father including hunting, camping, and attending church. (Tr. 8, 12, 22-23) As the chancellor stated:

> When she talked about- upon my questioning about activities that she participates in in Colorado versus the activities she participates in in Mississippi, she said, my mom and I do this. My mom and I do that. My mom and I in Colorado, but in Mississippi, it's the whole family. You know, her dad and her stepmom, and her stepsister, they go to church as a family, they do activities, they do-they're involved in a lot of activities.

The mother does not dispute that the father's home is a suitable environment. On cross examination, the mother conceded that the child's father was "a great father," and that he offered the child a loving environment. (Tr. 55) When questioned about why the child should not live with her father, the mother offered only:

A: I don't think it's best for her. I -

Q: Best because you don't want it; is that a fair statement?

A: Probably.

(Tr. 57)

Moreover, the chancellor thoroughly questioned the child on the record about whether she had been pressured into saying she wanted to live with her father.

Q: Well, I mean do you -- has your dad pressured you into doing this or is he...

A: Oh, no, ma'am.

Q: Do you feel like he's the one, the reason you want do this, or you're just wanting to do it because -

A: I want to do this. Like, I never felt any pressure or anything during this whole thing from when I first told him that I want to live with you - is that possible - to now. I don't feel any pressure.

(Tr. 10)

After her discussion with the child, the chancellor determined that the child had not been influenced by her father and was "adamant" in expressing her preference. (Tr. 62)

While a court is not required to respect a child's preference to live with one parent over the other, it is within a court's authority to do so. <u>Bell v. Bell</u>, 572 So.2d 841, 846 (Miss. 1990). In <u>Bell</u>, the lower court split custody of a seven year old child and a thirteen year old child who testified of her preference to

reside with the mother. Mrs. Bell was awarded custody of the seven year old and the father was awarded custody of the thirteen year old. Further, the Court refused to disturb the chancellor's findings in this modification proceeding at least in part because the child was over fifteen (15) years of age at the time of the appeal. <u>Bell</u> at 846. In this case, the minor child turned fifteen (15) in May, 2011. Indeed, a child's expressed preference of custodial parent is not outcome determinative in a custody modification proceeding, however, the chancellor must consider such preference when determining the child's best interest. <u>Holmes v.</u> <u>Holmes</u>, 958 So.2d 844, 848 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

The trial court specifically found that the child preferred living with her father and was more comfortable in her father's home. (R. 55) Though the court cited the child's preference as a factor in its determination to modify custody, it also properly considered the testimony of the parties and the minor child and the totality of the circumstances. As a result, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in modifying custody.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, based on the foregoing reasons, the father, Thomas R. Shannon, respectfully requests the Court to affirm the trial court's decision and award him reasonable attorney fees and costs in having to defend this appeal. In the alternative, because

the parties were limited to less than one hour to present their case, and should this Court find the record to be insufficient, the Father would urge this Court to remand this case back to the lower court for a full hearing on the issue of custody of the minor child.